Annual
Report

2020

GATEHOUSE CAPITAL - ECONOMIC &
FINANCIAL CONSULTANCY K.S.C
(CLOSED) AND SUBSIDIARIES

www.gc.com.kw






GATEHOUSE
CAPITAL

ANNUAL
REPORT

2020

Established on July 13™, 2008

(Previously established on April 2™, 2002 as a company with limited liability)
Paid up Capital KD 10,000,000

Divided into 100,000,000 share

Par value 100 Fils / share



Gatehouse Capital — Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C (Closed) and Subsidiaries, Kuwait

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
3| December 2020 -



/

e

AR e . -







H.H. Sheikh

Nawaf Al-Ahmed Al-Jaber Al-Sabah
The Amir of the State of Kuwait






H.H. Sheikh
Mishal Al-Ahmad Al-Jaber Al-Sabah

The Crown Prince






TABLEOFCONTENTS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
SUBSIDIARY & ASSOCIATE COMPANIES
BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT INCOME
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT- EVALUATION OF INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS ...







BOARD OFDIRECTORS

Fahed Faisal Boodai

Chairman

Abdulaziz Saud Al Bader

Vice Chairman

Mohamad Tawfik Al Tahawy

Board Member

Charles Haresnape

Board Member

Abdulla Alghanim
Board Member

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 | GATEHOUSE CAPITAL

I3



L7 s

\.\\ '
N 4
q

I I I A A A

.,
e
/

T




SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

GSHusa

Global Securities House - USA

ASSOCIATE COMPANIES
Weaver Point Company - USA

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 | GATEHOUSE CAPITAL I5






BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT
For the year ended 3| December 2020

In the name of Allah, the Most Gracious, the Most Merciful,

On behalf of my colleagues, members of the Board of Directors, it gives me great pleasure to present to you the annual report
of the year ending on the 3 |st of December 2020. This year was marked by a remarkable joint venture and critical adaptation
and navigation through uncertainty amid a global pandemic.

Gatehouse Capital (GC) reported a netincome of KD 911,730 for the fiscal year ended on 3| December 2020, a well-achieved
profitability considering the challenging circumstances imposed by COVID-19 pandemic.

In the first quarter of the year, owing to its formidable track record in the US market and strong relationships, GC further
bolstered its credentials with prominent investment groups.

In the United States market, GC embarked upon the first phase of its joint venture with VEREIT, one of the largest single tenant
public REITs in the United States. GC was able to secure the exclusive partnership with VEREIT and in the first quarter of the
year saw the acquisition of three properties for the OAP aggregation platform across a variety of sectors, providing diversified
office exposure and economies of scale for its clients.

Furthermore, in the first quarter of the year, the Executive Team’s efforts to boost the IT infrastructure and move towards
cloud-based solutions played a vital role in operating the business remotely during periods of quarantine and ensured smooth
client communication.

The third and fourth quarters of the year saw the sale of three properties in the SIP industrial Portfolio and one property in the
USIPA Il Portfolio. Those partial sales were achieved as part of a forward-looking approach to de-risk the portfolios especially
when an opportunity with lucrative prices is attained. Such an approach exhibits GC'’s strength in capitalizing on market trends
and the dislocation in markets amid the COVID-19 pandemic to generate robust returns for its clients.

While the industrial and office assets faired well through the turbulence of the pandemic, the hotel sector has experienced
headwinds due to nation-wide lockdowns, travel restrictions which led to a sharp reduction in overall demand, ultimately,
impacting GC'’s portfolios in this sector.

In conclusion, Gatehouse Capital and its operating partners will continue its strategy to sourcing high quality investment
transactions that cater to the demands of its client base while maintaining an agile and innovative approach in facing any
upcoming challenges.

Finally, | would like to express my thanks and appreciation to our professional team for their efforts in implementing these
strategic objectives, and to the members of the Board and our shareholders for their continued support.

Fahed Faisal Boodai
Chairman
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To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
For the Year Ended 31 December 2020

Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.P. believes in necessary and important implementation of rules of corporate governance in line with
the interests of the Company and its shareholders. The Company also believes that compliance with the rules of corporate
governance maintains the Company’s and shareholders’ equity, as these rules ensure disclosure and efficiency and enhance the
shareholders’ trust on the board of directors and, hence, increase productivity.

In accordance with the instructions and decisions issued by the Capital Markets Authority (CMA), in particular those stated
under Article 3.7 of Module |5 “Corporate Governance” of the Executive Regulations of the Law No. 7/2010 regarding the
Establishment of the Capital Markets Authority and Regulation of Securities Activity and the amendments thereto. We are
pleased to enumerate below the actions taken during 2020 to fulfill all the regulatory requirements and adopt the corporate
governance policies in line with the relevant CMA instructions:

Rule (1): Balanced Structure of the Board

I. Criteria of Board Membership:

The Board of Directors (BoD) of Gatehouse Capital comprises of 5 members. BoD formation considers, inter alia,
qualifications, diversified experience and professionalism. In addition, all BoD members are non-executive directors and still
carry out their duties till the end of their board membership on 22 October 2021. BoD includes one independent director
reflecting a balanced structure that enables BoD discharge its duties and responsibilities by laying down the Company’s strategy
and policies, setting its targets and overseeing the performance of the executive management. The following table sets out the
names of qualifications of BoD members:

Designation (Executive / Non- Election/Appointment

Qualification & Experience Date

executive / Independent)

Fahed F. Boodai Chalrman‘ MBA, 23 year experience in finance 27 Decernber 2015
Non-executive and management

Abdulaziz S. Al-Bader Vice Cha|rma.m / MBA, 40 year experience in finance 14 march 2017
Non-executive and management

MBA, 30 year experience in finance

Mohamad T. Al-Tahawy | BoD Member / Independent
and management

27 December 2015

Bachelor of Law , 42 year experience 23 October 2018

Charles Haresnape BoD Member / Non-executive .
in finance and management

Bachelor of Sciences, 10 year

Abdullah I. Al-Ghanim BoD Member / Independent . .
experience in finance and management

23 October 2018

2. Board Meetings

BoD meetings are regularly held based on an invitation by the Chairman. For the purpose of BoD meetings, each BoD member
is provided with the meeting agenda along with the related information and data at least three working days prior to the
scheduled date of meeting. BoD approves its agenda in the meeting that shall not be valid unless it is attended by half of its
members, provided that the number of attendees should be at least three members. Decisions are passed only by absolute
majority. The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association govern BoD meetings and attendance thereof and handling
the irregular attendance of BoD meetings. During the year ended 3| December 2020, BoD held 7 meetings as tabulated below:

Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting No. of
Name of Board Member (1) held on (2) held on (3) held on (4) held on (5) held on (6) held on (7) held on Mo.'?

15.01 16.04 10.05 10.08 30.09 25.11 23.12 S
|. Fahed F. Boodai vV v v Vv v v Vv 7
2. Abdulaziz S. Al-Bader Vv Vv v Vv v Vv Vv 7
3. Mohamad T. Al-Tahawy Vv Vv v v Vv v Vv 7
4. Charles Haresnape Vv Vv v Vv Vv v - 6

5. Abdullah I. Al-Ghanim
(independent)
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To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
For the Year Ended 31 December 2020

3. Recording, handling and filing BoD meetings’ minutes

The BoD Secretary, who is a company employee, records and maintains all minutes of the board meetings and the reports to
be submitted by/to BoD. The Board Secretary is also responsible for coordinating with the BoD members and communicate
the meeting dates three days prior to the scheduled date.

The Company’s management maintains a record of all minutes of BoD meetings in order of the years of the meetings. Such
record also includes the place, date and start/end time of BoD meetings, the present and absent BoD members, the invited
persons and the minutes of the discussions setting out the voting process. Such records are properly saved for easy reference.

Rule (2): Assignment of Roles & Responsibilities

The Company’s Articles of Association define the roles and responsibilities assigned to BoD. In addition, the BoD Charter
defines the BoD roles including the task of overseeing the performance of executive management and ensuring compliance with
the BoD approved business strategy and plans. The Executive Committee Charter and the relevant policies and procedures
approved by BoD assign certain tasks and responsibilities to the executive management. Moreover, the approved Authority
Matrix sets out all powers and authorities delegated to the executive management and those assigned solely to BoD. Work is
in progress to update the Company’s approved policies and procedures manuals.

Board of Directors:
BoD is responsible for laying down a company-wide strategy and the key business plans. The other tasks of BoD include:
I. Setting the company-wide targets and strategy, and overseeing the company-wide performance.

2. Approving the annual budgets and monitoring any deviation.

3. Laying down the Company’s policies and bylaws and ensuring that these policies are clear and transparent for decision
making purposes, and are in line with the principles of corporate governance approved by BoD.

4. Approving the interim reviewed and the annual audited financial statements.

5. Forming BoD committees (audit, risk management and remuneration & nomination) and approving the charters that
govern their business.

6. Overseeing performance of BoD members and the executive management as per the approved performance indicators.

Major Highlights & Achievements in 2020:

I. Reviewed and discussed the Company’s strategic plan for the next five years.

Discussed and endorsed the development plan for the information technology equipment.
Discussed and approved the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 3| December 2019.
Discussed and approved the business plan of Compliance Unit for the year 2020.

Discussed and approved the corporate governance report for the year ended 31 December 2019.

o h W

Discussed and approved the recommendations of Remuneration & Nomination Committee, Audit Committee and Risk
Management Committee.

7. Approved the reports of BoD Committees: Remuneration & Nomination Committee, Audit Committee and Risk
Management Committee.

8. Approved the quarterly financial statements and budget for 2020.

9. Approved of the Company’s policies and procedures in line with CMA instructions.

10. Approved AML/CFT Risk Evaluation Report for the year ended 3| December 2019 issued by Compliance Unit.
I'l. Discussed and approved the quarterly Compliance reports.

[2. Reviewed the liquidity position and future cash flows for 2020.

I 3. Reviewed the summary of existing and future investments, projects and potential opportunities.

[4. Approved distribution of dividends for the year ended 3| December 2019.

I'5. Approved cancellation of Investment Portfolio Manager Activity.

| 6. Approved the disclosures for 2019.

| 7. Reviewed the updates regarding the associates and subsidiaries.
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To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
For the Year Ended 31 December 2020

BoD Committees:

In order for BoD to fulfill the corporate governance rules in efficient and effective manner, BoD formed three BoD Committees
that help enhance BoD efficiency in the management of the Company’s business.

Duties and responsibilities as well as the authorities of each committee are assigned by BoD and documented in the form
of a chart for each committee. Formation of each committee includes BoD non-executive members, who have the relevant
expertise. These committees are::

e Audit Committee,

* Risk Management Committee, and

¢ Nomination & Remuneration Committee.

Audit Committee (AC):

Board Audit Committee (“AC”) promotes the compliance culture within the Company and ensures the integrity of the financial
reporting, adequacy and efficiency of the internal control systems. AC is supervised by, and reports to, the Board of Directors,
and submits its recommendations to the Board in terms of its tasks and findings.

The major achievements and decisions of AC in 2020 are:

Discussed and approved the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Approved the external auditors’ report on the financial statements for the year ended 3| December 2019.
Approved the Internal Control System Review Report for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Approved the external auditors’ report on AML/CFT.

Discussed the interim financial statement for 2020.

oV h WS —

Approved the quarterly questionnaire on the policies and procedures adopted by the third parties providing Know-Your-
Customer (KYC) services related to AML/CFT.

7. Discussed the quarterly internal audit reports for 2020.

8. Reappointing the committee’s secretary.

Commitee Members

Sr. Name Title Presence
l. Mohammed Tawfiq Al Tahawy Chairman 5
2. Abdullah I. Al-Ghanim Member (independent) 5
3. Charles Haresnape Member 5

Committee Secretary: Abdurrahman Suleiman Al-Busairy

AC Formation Date Duration No of Meetings

23 October 2018 3 years 4
Committee Secretary: Ohood Waleed Abu Ebeid

AC Formation Date Duration No of Meetings

23 October 2018 3 years |
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To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
For the Year Ended 31 December 2020

Risk Management Committee (RMC):

Risk Management Committee (“RMC") identifies, measures, monitor and minimizes the risks to which the Company is exposed,
submits the sound recommendations to BoD, approves Risk Appetite and ensures that the Company does not exceed such
limits of risks after approval thereof by BoD.

The major achievements and decisions of RMC in 2020 are:
I. Discussed a comparative analysis of investment situations against the approved Risk Appetite.
2. Discussed and approved the periodic risk reports.
3. Reviewed the Company’s organization structure and recommended approval thereof by BoD.
4.

Reappointing the committee’s secretary.

Committee Members:

Sr. Name Title Presence
[ Mohammed Tawfiq Al Tahawy Chairman 4
2. Abdullah I. Al-Ghanim Member (independent) 4
3. Charles Haresnape Member 4

Committee Secretary: Feras N. Al-Ayoubi

RMC Formation Date Duration No of Meetings

23 October 2018 3 years 4

Nomination & Remuneration Committee (NRC):

Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee (“NRC”) is concerned with nomination of the members of the Board of
Directors (“BoD” or the “Board”) and its committees and executive management. Such nomination is preliminarily based
on the professional experience, technical abilities and the good morals and ethics to ensure that nomination serves the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders.

In addition, the Committee lays down the policies and bylaws that govern payment of compensations and benefits for all the
job levels in the Company including Chairman, Board members and the executive management in line with the Company’s
long- and short-term strategy and objectives, in order to attract the highly qualified and competent persons and motivate all
staff to achieve the Company’s objectives.

The major achievements and decisions of NRC in 2020 are:
I. Approved 2020 HR Report.

2. Approved the bonus for the Company’s staff and executive management, rejecting any change or increase to the salaries
due the hard covid-19 induced conditions the Company may encounter in future.

3. Discussed and approved the annual BoD performance appraisal for 2019.

4. Discussed and approved directors’ and executive management’s remuneration for 2019.
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To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
For the Year Ended 31 December 2020

Committee Members:

Sr. Name Title Presence
[ Abdulaziz S. Al-Bader Chairman I
2. Fahad F. Boodai Member I
3. Abdullah I. Al-Ghanim Member (independent) I

Committee Secretary: Ohood Waleed Abu Ebeid

NRC Formation Date Duration No of Meetings

23 October 2018 3 years |

Mechanism applied for BoD members to obtain accurate information on a timely basis

The board secretary provides BoD with the adequate information about the agenda of BoD meeting at least three days before
the meeting (unless there is an urgent meeting that requires inviting BoD members within shorter period) to enable them take
the right decisions. In addition, the board secretary ensures the timely submission of the reports related to the board’s works,
points of agenda and meeting minutes.

The executive management provide BoD members with several reports and data to keep BoD updated of all the Company’s
activities and running of its business. Furthermore, BoD and executive management committees provides BoD with the
necessary reports on a timely basis. BoD and its committees are provided with all information and data that enable them make
sound and timely decisions based on sufficient and accurate information.

Rule (3): Selection of Competent Candidates for BoD and Executive Management
I. Fulfilment of NRC Formation Requirements

NRC is comprised of 3 members including the independent member and presided by a non-executive BoD member. Period
of membership and processes are approved by BoD. The Committee meets at least once every year or whenever necessary.

NRC had approved a clear policy that covers remuneration of BoD Chairman and members and the various tranches of
fixed and performance related remuneration. The Committee’s tasks include proposing nomination and re-nomination of the
members taking into consideration that nominees must fulfill CMA requirements.

2. BoD and Executive Management Remuneration Report

Gatehouse Capital adopts a simple and appropriate staff remuneration policy that include a profit-sharing scheme for staff,
especially the high performing employees in appreciation of their contribution and to foster their dedication and commitment
to achieve a targeted minimum profit. This policy aims to increase confidence of the shareholders by ensuring that the minimum
profit target shall be realized even before the profit-sharing portion is allotted to staff.

Staff Remuneration:

The gross pool of remuneration is proposed at 7%-10% of net profit before calculation. Such ratio is adjusted for the profit
rate to the net profit target before remuneration calculation, as shown in the table of remuneration and benefits paid to BoD
members and the executive management.

By end of each financial year, and concurrently with approval of the draft financial statements, performance of each employee
is assessed against the achievement of the targets preset for each employee at the beginning of the year in addition to his/her
personal skills throughout the year.

It is worth mentioning that bonus could be paid to certain employees if they have achieved the target performance such as
a percent of the placement fee or the incentive fee collected by the Company even if the Company’s minimum target profit
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To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
For the Year Ended 31 December 2020

is not achieved, subject to approval of NRC and BoD for CEO and executive management, and CEO approval for the other
employees.

BoD Remuneration:

A fixed amount of annual remuneration is recommended for payment to BoD subject to approval of the Company’s financial
statements by the general assembly and in conformity with the regulatory and legal requirements. The amount of remuneration
is based on certain criteria like number of committees in which a BoD director is a member beside his/her BoD membership,
number of committee meetings attended by the concerned director and annual appraisal of BoD in terms of the technical skills
and personal characteristics relating to Company’s activities.

The following table sets out the remunerations, benefits and compensation paid to BoD and executive management for the
financial year ended 31 December 2020:

Remuneration, salaries, bonus and Total remuneration,
the other financial benefits salaries, bonus and the
(through the parent company and other financial benefits

its subsidiaries) KD
BoD Members

. Chairman Variable benefits (annual bonus and committee allowance) 23,000
2. Vice Chairman Variable benefits (annual bonus and committee allowance) 3,000
3. BoD Members Variable benefits (annual bonus and committee allowance) 3,000

Executive Management

Fixed remuneration and benefits (salary, medical

4 CEO insurance) and Variable remuneration (annual bonus) 132,797

5 Ccoo leed remuneratlop and benefits (Sialary, medical 95,154
insurance) and Variable remuneration (annual bonus)

6. Financial Manager Fixed remuneration and benefits (salary, medical 37.345

insurance) and Variable remuneration (annual bonus)

No deviation from the approved remuneration policy has been identified during the year.

Rule (4): Integrity of Financial Reporting
Written Undertakings by BoD and Executive Management for Soundness and Integrity of the
Financial Reports

The executive management represented in Chief Operating Officer and the Financial Controller undertake in writing to
BoD that the Company’s reports are presented in fair and sound manner and prepared in accordance with the international
accounting standards approved by CMA.

Within the same context, the Chairman declares and undertakes the accuracy, integrity and soundness of the financial statements
furnished to the external auditors, and that the Company’s financial reports are presented in a sound and fair manner in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) applicable to the State of Kuwait and approved by
CMA and that it represents the Company’s financial positions as at 31 December 2019, based on the information and reports
provided by the executive management and the external auditor and the due care exercised, to ensure the soundness and
accuracy of these reports.
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To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
For the Year Ended 31 December 2020

Fulfillment of Audit Committee Formation Requirements

AC is formed in line with the nature of the Company’s business and include experienced members. AC is comprised of 3
non-executive members including an independent director. The Chairman should be a member in this committee that should
also include a highly qualified member with experience in accounting and finance. Period of membership and processes are
approved by BoD. AC meets at least once every three months or whenever necessary.

In addition, AC promotes the culture of compliance inside the Company by ensuring the soundness and integrity of the
Company’s financial reporting, and adequacy and efficiency of the internal control systems. The Committee reports to BoD in
terms of its duties and findings.

Independence and Objectivity of the External Auditor

The Company’s ordinary general assembly appoints the external auditor based on a recommendation of AC after verifying
that they’re enrolled in the CMA register and fulfill all the requirements stated under CMA decision regarding registration
of auditors.

Itis also ensured that the external auditors are independent of the Company and its BoD, and they are not engaged in any other

tasks for the Company outside the scope of review and audit in a manner that may affect their independency.

Rule (5): Sound Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

Fulfillment of Risk Management Department Formation Requirements

Anindependent unit was formed to be entrusted with risk management with its officers directly reporting to the Risk Management
Committee and having the necessary authorities that enable them carry out their duties, excluding financial authorities.

Fulfillment of Risk Management Committee Composition Requirements

RMC is comprised of three members and chaired by a non-executive director. The Chairman is a member in this committee
for more authorities and independency. Period of membership is stated under the committee charter. The committee submits
its reports directly to BoD that approves its processes. RMC meets at least once every three months or whenever necessary.

Internal control systems

The internal control systems are designed to cover all the Company’s activities and ensure efficiency and effectiveness of
operations. The internal control systems also ensure the dual control by assigning responsibilities and authorities through the
approved Authority Matrix and operating policies and procedures that set out all levels of powers and authorities. In addition,
the Company ensures segregation of duties, monitoring of all transactions that imply conflict of interest and full disclosure of
such translations. The Company also adopts the Dual Control principle to all its operations and activities.

In addition, the Company conducts its internal control system review through an approved independent office to ensure
adequacy of internal control systems. An annual report is produced a copy of which is provided to CMA.

Fulfillment of Independent Internal Audit Unit Formation Requirements

An Internal Audit Unit is established to assess the efficiency and effectiveness of applied internal control systems. The Unit
is independent and directly reporting to AC and BoD. An Internal Audit Officer is hired by virtue of a decision by BoD and
CMA approval.

Rule (6): Promoting Professional Conduct and Ethics

Standards of Professional Conduct and Ethics

The Company developed a code of conduct for both BoD members and staff, internal bylaws and other guidelines for
compliance with the laws that govern the Company’s operations. It is expected that BoD will issue the sound decisions in all
matters to protect the interests of clients, staff and the other stakeholders and maintain a sound environment based on efficient
cooperation. In carrying out their duties, BoD, executive management and staff comply with the code of conduct that requires,
inter alia, honesty, integrity and dedication.
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Code of Conduct & Ethics sets out the standard acts of every manager, officer or employee with the Company’s stakeholders
and the public. Such Code aims to ensure that the Company is viewed to others as an institution that complies with high
standards of integrity in all its transactions. However, such Code does not address all situations and should not be considered
as an alternative of practicing the good judgment and behaviors by the Company’s employee.

Policies and Controls to Minimize the Conflict of Interest

A Conflict of Interest Policy has been approved to ensure maintenance of the highest level of transparency in reporting the
Company'’s operations. Conflict of interest must be avoided among the employees/directors and their direct family members
(i.e. spouse, sons/daughters, parents and siblings) and the Company in all their own transactions.

The aforesaid policy states that BoD should take all the reasonable procedures to detect, avoid or deal with the conflict of
interest between BoD/employee, any of their relative/subsidiaries and their customers, employees and agents, or misuse the
confidential information of those customers.

BoD should always act in a manner that serves solely the Company’s interests. They should set aside their personal interest and
discharge their responsibilities for managing the Company in a manner that enhances the public’s trust in BoD’s integrity and
impartiality. Any BoD member may not obtain any gain, directly or indirectly, from his position in such capacity.

A BoD director may not, without approval of the Company’s general assembly (provided such approval should be renewed
on an annual basis), have a direct or indirect interest in the business or contract concluded for the Company, except for the
business concluded through a public tender if such director submits the best bid.

A director shall notify BoD of his/her personal interests in the business and contract concluded for the Company and record
such notification in the meeting’s minutes. A director having such an interest may not vote on any decision to be passed in this
respect. In addition, BoD Chairman should inform the Company’s general assembly of the business and contracts to which he
is a party. Such notification should be accompanied with a special report prepared by the Company’s auditors.

Rule (7): Accurate and Timely Disclosure & Transparency

Accurate and Transparent Presentation & Disclosure

The management of Gatehouse Capital is keen to adopt and follow the highest standards of disclosure and transparency in
order to ensure the equal and unbiased treatment of all the existing and potential shareholders and stakeholders. The adopted
mechanisms of presentation and disclosures approved by BoD consider accuracy and transparency in presenting the financial
and non-financial information and data. Furthermore, the Company’s management review the mechanisms and systems of
disclosure and transparency on a regular basis to ensure adoption thereof in line with the best international practices.

Requirements for BoD Members and Executive Management Disclosure Register

A register of BoD and executive management disclosures was prepared with board secretary. A circular was sent to all
members of BoD and executive management to inform the board secretary with any conflict of interest between their direct
family members and the Company or the subsidiaries or the companies in which the Company is involved. A declaration and
undertaking to this effect is obtained from the members of BoD and executive management.

Investor Relations Unit

The Company’s management established an Investor Relations Unit that reports to BoD Deputy Chairman and CEO to ensure
its independence. The Unit is responsible for providing all information and data to the existing shareholders and investors
through the generally accepted means of disclosure including the Company’s Website.

Development of IT Infrastructure

The Company’s management pays special attention to the development of the IT infrastructure. The key noticeable
developments include launching the website that has a separate section of corporate governance along with the interim reviewed
and annual audited financial statements, disclosures of the Company-related material information and events and other data
and information that assist the shareholders, potential investors and stakeholders to exercise their rights and evaluate the
Company’s performance.
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Rule (8): Respecting Shareholders’ Rights

Defining and Protecting the Shareholders’ Rights
The Shareholders & Investors Relations Policy approved by BoD provides for all rights of the Company’s shareholders and the
equal and unbiased treatment of all shareholders holding the same class of shares. The aforesaid rights include the following:

* Dealing of the shares, e.g. registration, transfer, etc.

e Taking part in making the decisions for amendment of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and the
other extraordinary decisions that may affect the Company’s future/business such as merger, sale of significant portion
of assets or dissolution of a subsidiary.

*  Monitoring the Company’s performance in general and BoD performance in particular.

*  Obtaining accurate, comprehensive and sufficient information in a timely manner including the operating and investing
strategies in order to evaluate the financial statements of the Company and its performance.

e Charging BoD and executive management members with the responsibilities if they failed in carrying out their duties.
* Receiving the dividends and voting in the general assembly’s meetings.
* Receiving a portion of the Company’s assets in case of liquidation thereof.

* Electing BoD.

Maintaining a Special Record with Clearing Agency under the Requirements of the Continuous Follow up of
Shareholders related Information

The Company entered into a contract with a clearing agency approved by CMA, Kuwait Clearing Company, to maintain the
shareholders’ register that includes names and nationalities of the shareholders and the number of shares owned by each
shareholder. The aforesaid register is updated with any change made thereto. The Company’s shareholders have access to that
register, which is always treated as strictly confidential.

Encouraging Shareholders to Take Part and Vote in the General Assembly Meeting

The Company makes available all the data and information relating to the agenda within sufficient time before the meeting date,
and give access for all the shareholders to these data and information to enable them take part in the meetings. The Chairman
or the external auditor replies to all questions and inquiries raised by the shareholders with respect to the Company’s financial
position, results, operating activities or future plans.

Furthermore, the Company ensures that all shareholders have the chance to vote, in person or by proxy, on the decisions
passed in the general meeting and for electing BoD members. Attendance of the general assembly meeting is free of charge,
and no preference is granted to any shareholder over the others.

Rule (9): Recognizing the Role of the Stakeholders
Systems and Policies that Ensure Protection and Recognition of Stakeholders’ Rights

The Company has developed systems and policies that ensure protection of the stakeholders’ rights, as the key factor of the
Company’s success in achieving its goals is the mutual efforts of all parties including customers, suppliers, employees, investors
and the other parties that have business relations with the Company.

Encourage Stakeholders’ to Participate and Follow up on Company’s Business Activities

The Company’s management encourage stakeholders to take part and participate in following Company’s business activities,
through a systematic policy that put a great emphasis on transparency, and dealing fairly with all stakeholders, and by establishing
a culture among employees to create a link between staff performance and achieving Company’s strategic goals, leading to
inspire Company’s employees to participate in a continued and effective manner in follow up on Company’s business activities.

Rule (10): Enhancing Performance

Fulfillment of Trainings for BoD and Executive Management Requirements
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To the Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital K.S.C.C.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
For the Year Ended 31 December 2020

Gatehouse Capital pays special attention to the continued trainings and qualification of each BoD and executive management
member due to its belief that such continued trainings contribute to the achievement of the Company’s goals and ensure that
each BoD and executive management member carries out his/her assigned task and responsibilities in a timely and efficient
manner. Such programs and courses consider the training needs and requirements of BoD or executive management member.

Evaluation of BoD and Executive Management Performance

The Company developed Key Performance Indicators “KPIs” to measure the BoD performance, as a whole, and contribution of
each director. In addition, the Company developed KPIs for each board committee and every executive management member.
Accordingly, performance appraisals are conducted against these KPIs and the preset objectives in order to measure any
variations and address/resolve the same which ensures the good performance by BoD and executive management members
and, hence, achieve the Company’s targets.

BoD Efforts to Promote and Enhance Organizational Values

The Company strives to promote the organizational values by setting the mechanisms and procedures that help achieve its
strategic goals and enhance performance. In addition, the Company continually develops the in-house integral reporting system
to become more comprehensive and, accordingly, assist BoD and executive management members to take sound decisions.

Rule (11): Focusing on Social Responsibility

A Social Responsibility Policy has been developed to balance the Company’s goals with the community, and ensure the
Company’s contribution to the community in line with the belief of the Company’s management that such responsibility is a
key factor of its success.

To this end, the Company took some initiatives to highlight its efforts in social responsibility such as attracting national
manpower, and providing necessary trainings to help the national manpower adapt to the business environment and contribute
to the development and prosperity of Kuwait.

In addition, the Company engaged a professional designer from the local market to design and produce the gifts of the Holy
Month of Ramadan for its customers as part of its social responsibility and support of national young talents.

Fahed Faisal Boodai

Chairman
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To The Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital — Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C (closed)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Gatehouse Capital — Economic and Financial Consuitancy K.S.C
(Closed) {the “Parent Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020 and the consolidated statement of income,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the iInternational Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance
with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To The Shareholders of Gatehouse Capital — Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C (closed) (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and the consolidated financial
statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors relating to these
consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that we obtained all the information and
explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the consolidated financial statements incorporate all
information that is required by the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016 and its Executive Regulations and by the Parent Company's
Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, that an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the best of
our knowledge and belief, no violations of the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016, and its Executive Regulations, or of the Parent
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association have occurred during the year ended 31 December
2020 that might have had a material effect on the business of the Parent Company or on its consolidated financial position
except for the matter discussed in note 6 regarding investment properties. The Parent Company’s objects do not include
this activity.

We further t, during the course of our audit, we have not become aware of any material violations of the

o. Mof 2010, concerning the Capital Markets Authority and its related regulations during the year ended

S
N

Bader A.\M-Wazzan
License No. 62A
Deloitte & Touche- Al-Wazzan & Co.

Kuwait
31 March 2021

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 | GATEHOUSE CAPITAL 33



Gatehouse Capital - Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries Kuwait

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

INCOME

Asset management fees

Consultancy and advisory fees
Placement fees

Investment income

Share of results of an associate
Expected credit loss on financial assets

Other income

EXPENSES

Staff costs

General and administrative expenses
Depreciation

Murabaha payable costs

Finance costs on lease liabilities

PROFIT BEFORE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION,
CONTRIBUTION TO KUWAIT FOUNDATION FOR THE
ADVANCEMENT OF SCIENCES ("KFAS") AND ZAKAT

Directors> remuneration (note 10(c))
Contribution to KFAS

Zakat

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The attached notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Kuwaiti Dinars

2020

1,220,475
571,220
91,400
383,947
453,813
84,319
95,608
2,900,782

1,005,784
782,630
139,412

6,178

1,934,004

966,778

(35,000)

(9,668)
(10,380)
911,730

2019

[,115,435
637,146
191,767
575,119
342,539

84,348
109,308
3,055,662

1,053,198
392,180
136,118
259,350

14,504

1,855,350

1,200,312

(54,666)
(12,003)
(12,768)

1,120,875



Gatehouse Capital - Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries Kuwait

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive (loss)/income:

Items that will be reclassified to the consolidated statement of income in
subsequent years:

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Items that will not be reclassified to the consolidated statement of income:

Changes in the fair value of investment securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Realized loss on sale of investment securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Other comprehensive loss for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

The attached notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Notes

Kuwaiti Dinars

2020

911,730

3,445

(120,005)

(116,560)
795,170

2019

1,120,875

9,688

(322,536)

(138,684)

(451,532)
669,343
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Gatehouse Capital - Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries Kuwait

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 3| December 2020

Non-current assets
Furniture and equipment
Right of use assets
Investment properties

Investment in an associate

Investment securities at fair value through other comprehensive income

Investment securities at fair value through profit or loss

Current assets

Murabaha receivable

Accounts receivable and prepayments

Cash and bank balances

Total ASSETS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

Share capital

Statutory reserve

Fair value reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve
Retained earnings

Total equity

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities

Employees’ end of service benefits
Current liabilities

Lease liabilities

Accounts payable and accruals
Total liabilities

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

The attached notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Fahed Faisal Boodai
Chairman
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Kuwaiti Dinars

2020

27,812
54,816
350,177
3,843,232
5,813,291
1,289,629
11,378,957

372,941
1,227,666
1,600,607

12,979,564

10,000,000
1,380,734
(398,500)

345,727
1,084,914
12,412,875

198,265

52,128
316,296
566,689

12,979,564

2019

12,058
187,428
450,241
3,766,585
5,670,673
1,242,272
11,329,257

144,706
606,696
1,347,672
2,099,074
13,428,331

10,000,000
1,284,056
(284,893)

342,282
1,526,260
12,867,705

52,128
127,085

135,172
246,241
560,626
13,428,331



Gatehouse Capital - Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries Kuwait

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2020

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit for the year

Adjustment for:

Investment income

Share of results of an associate

Depreciation

Provision for employees’ end of service benefits
Murabaha payable costs

Expected credit loss

Finance costs on lease liabilities

Adjustments for changes in working capital:
Murabaha receivable

Accounts receivable and prepayments
Accounts payable and accruals

Cash from operating activities

Employees’ end of service benefits paid
Net cash flows from operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of furniture and equipment
Proceeds from sale of investment properties
Dividend income received from an associate

Purchase of investment securities at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Proceeds from sale of investment securities at
fair value through other comprehensive income

Dividend income received

Net cash flows from investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid

Net repayment of murabaha payable
Repayment of lease liabilities
Murabaha costs paid

Finance costs on lease liabilities

Net cash flows used in financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Net foreign exchange differences
Cash and cash equivalents as at | January

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December

The attached notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes

Kuwaiti Dinars

2020

911,730

(383,947)
(453,813)
139,412
72,597
(84,319)
6,188
207,848

134,647
455,057
797,552

(1,417)
796,135

(22,554)

379,036
(1,712,760)

1,450,137

379,890
473,749

(1,250,000)
(135,172)
(6,188)
(1,391,360)

(121,476)

1,470
1,347,672
1,227,666

2019

1,120,875

(575,119)
(342,539)
136,118
85,008
259,350
(84,348)
14,504
613,849

1,062,638
(299,650)
(258,432)
1,118,405

(8,529)
1,109,876

(12,337)
323,875
1,067,450

(1,599,365)

5,885,848

670,538
6,336,009

(2,000,000)
(4,128,307)
(132,746)
(259,350)
(14,504)
(6,534,907)

910,978
2,292
434,402
1,347,672
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Gatehouse Capital - Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries Kuwait

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Kuwaiti Dinars

Share Statutory Fair Foreign  Retained Total
capital reserve value currency earnings
reserve translation
reserve

As at | January 2019 10,000,000 1,164,025  (36,880) 332,594 2,738,623 14,198,362
Profit for the year - - - - 1,120,875 1,120,875
Other comprehensive income - - (461,220) 9,688 - (451,532)
Total comprehensive income - - (461,220) 9,688 1,120,875 669,343
Transfer to reserve - 120,031 - - (120,031) -
Transfer of realized loss on sale of
investment securities at falr‘val.ue i i 213.207 i (213.207) i
through other comprehensive income to
retained earnings
Dividends paid - - - - (2,000,000)  (2,000,000)
As at 31 December 2019 10,000,000 1,284,056 (284,893) 342,282 1,526,260 12,867,705
As at | January 2020 10,000,000 1,284,056 (284,893) 342,282 1,526,260 12,867,705
Profit for the year - - - - 911,730 911,730
Other comprehensive income - - (120,005) 3,445 - (116,560)
Total comprehensive income - - (120,005) 3,445 911,730 795,170
Transfer to reserve - 96,678 - - (96,678) -

Transfer of realized loss on sale of
investment securities at fair value
through other comprehensive

income to retained earnings - - 6,398 - (6,398) -
Dividends paid - - - - (1,250,000) (1,250,000)
As at 31 December 2020 10,000,000 1,380,734 (398,500) 345,727 1,084,914 12,412,875

The attached notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Gatehouse Capital - Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries Kuwait

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2020

2.1

2.2

Corporate information and activities

Gatehouse Capital — Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C (Closed) (the ‘Parent Company’) is a closed
shareholding company registered in Kuwait on |3 July 2008. The main objectives of the Parent Company are as follows:

» provide financial, management and economic consultations;
* conduct financial, management and economic studies and researches;
* organize specialized conferences, forums and workshops;

» effect transactions in securities (offer or sell) for the account of the issuer orany of its affiliates, or buying securities
from the issuer or its affiliates for the purpose of re-marketing after appropriate regulatory approval;

* own movables and immovable properties required for carrying out its business within the limit permitted by law;

* utilize financial surpluses available to the Parent Company for investment in financial portfolios managed by
competent companies and authorities.

* Investment portfolio Manager.
* Investment consultant.
* Subscription Agent.

The Parent Company is regulated by the Capital Markets Authority (CMA) as a licensed person.

The Parent Company’s registered address is |5 Floor, Al Dhow Tower, Sharq, Khalid Bin Al Waleed Street,
P. O. Box 29120, Safat 13150, Kuwait.

The consolidated financial statements of the Parent Company and subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), for the year
ended 3| December 2020 were authorized for issue by the Parent Company’s board of directors 31 March 2021.
The annual general assembly of the shareholders of the Parent Company has the power to amend these consolidated
financial statements after issuance.

The Parent Company is a subsidiary of Gatehouse Financial Group Limited, United Kingdom (The “Ultimate Parent
Company”).

Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and interpretations issued by the
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC).These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost basis except for the measurement at fair value of investment properties,
financial assets classified as at fair value through other comprehensive and financial assets classified as at fair value
through profit or loss.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (KD) which is the functional currency of the
Parent Company.

Going concern

The directors have, at the time of approving the consolidated financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the
Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

New and revised accounting standards

Effective for the current year

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent with those
used in the previous year except for the following new and amended IASB Standards during the year:
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Gatehouse Capital - Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries Kuwait

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2020

40

Impact of the initial application of Interest Rate Benchmark Reform amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

In September 2019, the IASB issued Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7).
These amendments modify specific hedge accounting requirements to allow hedge accounting to continue for affected
hedges during the period of uncertainty before the hedged items or hedging instruments affected by the current
interest rate benchmarks are amended as a result of the on-going interest rate benchmark reforms.

The application of these amendments did not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements, as
the Group does not have any hedges.

Impact of the initial application of Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions Amendment to IFRS 16

In May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-|9-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to IFRS 16) that provides practical
relief to lessees in accounting for rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of COVID-19, by introducing
a practical expedient to IFRS 16. The practical expedient permits a lessee to elect not to assess whether a COVID-
| 9-related rent concession is a lease modification. A lessee that makes this election shall account for any change in
lease payments resulting from the COVID-|9-related rent concession the same way it would account for the change
applying IFRS 16 if the change were not a lease modification.

The practical expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of COVID-19 and only if
all of the following conditions are met:

a) The change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less
than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

b) Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021 (a rent concession
meets this condition if it results in reduced lease payments on or before 30 June 2021 and increased lease payments
that extend beyond 30 June 2021); and

) There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

The application of these amendments did not have a significantimpact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Impact of the initial application of other new and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the below amendments to IFRS Standards and Interpretations issued by the
Board that are effective for an annual period that begins on or after | January 2020. Their adoption has not had any
material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards

The Group has adopted the amendments included in Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
IFRS Standards for the first time in the current year. The amendments include consequential amendments to affected
Standards so that they refer to the new Framework. Not all amendments, however, update those pronouncements
with regard to references to and quotes from the Framework so that they refer to the revised Conceptual Framework.

The Standards which are amended are IFRS 2, IFRS 3, IFRS 6, IFRS 14, IAS |, IAS 8, IAS 34, IAS 37, IAS 38, IFRIC 12,
IFRIC 19, IFRIC 20, IFRIC 22, and SIC-32.

Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a business

The Group has adopted the amendments to IFRS 3 for the first time in the current year. The amendments clarify that
while businesses usually have outputs, outputs are not required for an integrated set of activities and assets to qualify
as a business. To be considered a business an acquired set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input
and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

The amendments remove the assessment of whether market participants are capable of replacing any missing inputs
or processes and continuing to produce outputs. The amendments also introduce additional guidance that helps to
determine whether a substantive process has been acquired.
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Gatehouse Capital - Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries Kuwait

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2020

The amendments introduce an optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. Under the optional concentration test, the acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single
identifiable asset or group of similar assets. The amendments are applied prospectively to all business combinations
and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on or after | January 2020.

Amendments to IAS | and IAS 8 Definition of material

The Group has adopted the amendments to IAS | and IAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The amendments
make the definition of material in IAS | easier to understand and are not intended to alter the underlying concept of
materiality in IFRS Standards. The concept of ‘obscuring’ material information with immaterial information has been
included as part of the new definition.

The threshold for materiality influencing users has been changed from ‘could influence’ to ‘could reasonably be
expected to influence’. The definition of material in IAS 8 has been replaced by a reference to the definition of
material in IAS |. In addition, the IASB amended other Standards and the Conceptual Framework that contain a
definition of ‘material’ or refer to the term ‘material’ to ensure consistency.

Standards issued but not yet effective

At the date of authorization of these consolidated financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new
and revised IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Effective for annual
periods beginning on

New and revised IFRSs

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture.

The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 deal with situations where there is a sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
Specifically, the amendments state that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control
of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in a transaction with an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method, are recognised in
the parent’s statement of income only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the
remeasurement of investments retained in any former subsidiary (that has become an
associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method) to fair value
are recognised in the former parent’s statement of income only to the extent of the
unrelated investors’ interests in the new associate or joint venture.

The effective date of the amendments has yet to be set by the Board; however, earlier
application of the amendments is permitted. The directors of the Group anticipate
that the application of these amendments may have an impact on the Groups
consolidated financial statements in future periods should such transactions arise.

Amendments to IAS | — Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The amendments to IAS | affect only the presentation of liabilities as current or
non-current in the statement of financial position and not the amount or timing of
recognition of any asset, liability, income or expenses, or the information disclosed
about those items.

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current
is based on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that
classification is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement of a liability, explain that rights are in existence if covenants
are complied with at the end of the reporting period, and introduce a definition of
‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty
of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services.
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or after

The effective date is yet to
be set. Earlier application
is permitted.

The amendments are
applied retrospectively
for annual periods
beginning on or after |
January 2023, with early
application permitted.
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Gatehouse Capital - Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries Kuwait

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2020

42

Amendments to IFRS 3 — Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The amendments update IFRS 3 so that it refers to the 2018 Conceptual Framework
instead of the 1989 Framework. They also add to IFRS 3 a requirement that, for
obligations within the scope of IAS 37, an acquirer applies IAS 37 to determine
whether at the acquisition date a present obligation exists as a result of past events.
For a levy that would be within the scope of IFRIC 2| Levies, the acquirer applies
IFRIC 21 to determine whether the obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay
the levy has occurred by the acquisition date.

Finally, the amendments add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise
contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

Amendments to IAS 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment-Proceeds before
Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment any proceeds from selling items produced before that asset is available for
use, i.e. proceeds while bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for
it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Consequently,
an entity recognises such sales proceeds and related costs in consolidated statement
of income. The entity measures the cost of those items in accordance with IAS 2
Inventories.

The amendments also clarify the meaning of ‘testing whether an asset is functioning
properly’. IAS 16 now specifies this as assessing whether the technical and physical
performance of the asset is such that it is capable of being used in the production or
supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes.

If not presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated financial statements shall disclose the amounts of proceeds and cost
included in consolidated statement of income that relate to items produced that are
not an output of the entity’s ordinary activities, and which line item(s) in the statement
of comprehensive income include(s) such proceeds and cost.

The amendments are applied retrospectively, but only to items of property, plant and
equipment that are brought to the location and condition necessary for them to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management on or after the beginning
of the earliest period presented in the consolidated financial statements in which the
entity first applies the amendments.

The entity shall recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other component of
equity, as appropriate) at the beginning of that earliest period presented.

Amendments to IAS 37 — Onerous Contracts—Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘costs that
relate directly to the contract’. Costs that relate directly to a contract consist of both
the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (examples would be direct labour or
materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (an
example would be the allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

The amendments apply to contracts for which the entity has not yet fulfilled all its
obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first
applies the amendments. Comparatives are not restated. Instead, the entity shall
recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings or other component of equity, as
appropriate, at the date of initial application.
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Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020

The Annual Improvements include amendments to four Standards.
IFRS | First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards | January 2022, with early
The amendment provides additional relief to a subsidiary which becomes a first-  application permitted.
time adopter later than its parent in respect of accounting for cumulative translation

differences. As a result of the amendment, a subsidiary that uses the exemption in

IFRS 1:D16 (a) can now also elect to measure cumulative translation differences for

all foreign operations at the carrying amount that would be included in the parent’s

consolidated financial statements, based on the parent’s date of transition to IFRS

Standards, if no adjustments were made for consolidation procedures and for the

effects of the business combination in which the parent acquired the subsidiary. A

similar election is available to an associate or joint venture that uses the exemption in

[FRS I:D16 (a).

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments | January 2022, with early

The amendment clarifies that in applying the ‘10 per cent’ test to assess whether to  application permitted.
derecognise a financial liability, an entity includes only fees paid or received between

the entity (the borrower) and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the

entity or the lender on the other’s behalf.

The amendment is applied prospectively to modifications and exchanges that occur
on or after the date the entity first applies the amendment.

IFRS 16 Leases No effective date is stated.

The amendment removes the illustration of the reimbursement of leasehold

improvements.

The management does not expect the adoption of the Standards and Interpretations listed above to have a material
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group in future periods.

2.3 Business combination

A business combination is the bringing together of separate entities or businesses into one reporting entity as a result
of one entity, the acquirer, obtaining control of one or more other businesses. The acquisition method of accounting
is used to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition is measured as the
fair values of the assets given, equity interests issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of the exchange.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. The acquisition related costs are expensed when incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination (net assets acquired in a business combination) are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. Non-controlling interest in the subsidiary acquired is recognized at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.
The fair value of the equity of the acquiree at the acquisition date is determined using valuation techniques and
considering the outcome of recent transactions for similar assets in the same industry in the same geographical region.

The Group separately recognizes contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination if it is a present obligation
that arises from past events and its fair value can be measured reliably.

An indemnification received from the seller in a business combination for the outcome of a contingency or uncertainty
related to all or part of a specific asset or liability that is recognized at the acquisition date at its acquisition-date fair
value is recognized as an indemnification asset at the acquisition date at its acquisition-date fair value.

The Group uses provisional values for the initial accounting of a business combination and recognizes any adjustment
to these provisional values within the measurement period which is twelve months from the acquisition date.
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Consolidation

The Group consolidates the financial statements of the Parent Company and subsidiaries (i.e. investees that it controls)
and investees controlled by its subsidiaries.

The Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:
* Powerovertheinvestee (i.e. existingrights thatgiveitthe currentability to direct the relevantactivities of theinvestee);
* Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and

* The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

* The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
* Rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

* Voting rights and potential voting rights;

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements on a line-by-line basis,
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group until the date that control ceases.

Non-controlling interest in an acquiree is stated at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share in the recognized
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the acquisition date and the non-controlling interest’s share of
changes in the equity since the date of the combination. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. Changes in the Group’s
ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interest in the subsidiary and any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests is
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to the
Parent Company’s shareholders. Non-controlling interest is presented separately in the consolidated statements of
financial position and income. The non-controlling interests are classified as a financial liability to the extent there is an
obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to settle the non-controlling interest.

Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events
in similar circumstances based on latest audited financial statements of subsidiaries. Intra group balances, transactions,
income, expenses and dividends are eliminated in full. Profits and losses resulting from intra group transactions that
are recognized in assets are eliminated in full. Intra group losses that indicate an impairment is recognized in the
consolidated financial statements.

When the Parent Company loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets (including any goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost as well as related non-controlling
interests. Any investment retained is recognized at fair value at the date when control is lost. Any resulting difference
along with amounts previously directly recognized in equity is transferred to the consolidated statement of income.

Financial instruments

Recognition and de-recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

A financial asset or a financial liability is recognized when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All financial assets or financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue are added except for those financial instruments classified as “at fair
value through profit or loss”.

A financial asset (in whole or in part) is de-recognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the
financial asset has expired or the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership and has not
retained control. If the Group has retained control, it continues to recognize the financial asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement in the financial asset.

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. Where
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
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original liability and recognition of a new liability. If the modification is not substantial, the difference between: (1) the
carrying amount of the liability before the modification; and (2) the present value of the cash flows after modification
is recognised in consolidated statement of income as the modification gain or loss within other gains and losses.

All regular way purchase and sale of financial assets are recognized using settlement date accounting. Changes in fair
value between the trade date and settlement date are recognized in the consolidated statement of income or in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in accordance with the policy applicable to the related instrument.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchase or sale of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame generally established by regulations or conventions in the market place.

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

Classification of financial assets are based on a combination of the entity’s business model for managing the assets and
the instruments’ contractual cash flow characteristics.
Business model assessment

The Group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets to
achieve its business objective. That is, whether the Group’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows
from the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither
of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part
of ‘Sell’ business model and measured at Fair Value through Profit or Loss. The Group’s business model is based on
observable factors such as:

*  How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are evaluated
and reported to the entity’s key management personnel;

* The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business
model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed;

* How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based on the fair
value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected).

The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Group’s assessment.

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are Solely Payments of Principal and Profit (SPPP test)

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows
and sell, the Group assesses whether the financial instruments’ contractual cash flows represent Solely Payments of
Principal and Profit (the ‘SPPP test’).

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and may
change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortization of the
premium/discount).

The most significant elements of interest within a basic lending arrangement are typically the consideration for the time
value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin. To make the SPPP assessment, the Group
applies judgement and considers relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and
the period for which the interest rate is set.

The Group classifies its financial assets upon initial recognition into the following categories:

* Financial assets carried at amortised cost (AC)

* Investment securities at FVTPL

* Investment securities at FVOCI

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions:

* The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPP on the principal
amount outstanding.
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Cash and bank balances, accounts receivable and murabaha receivable in the nature of financial assets are classified as
financial assets carried at amortised cost.

Investment securities at FVTPL

The Group classifies financial assets as held for trading when they have been purchased or issued primarily for short-
term profit making through trading activities or form part of a portfolio of financial instruments that are managed
together, for which there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit taking. In addition, on initial recognition,
the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at
amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL, if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that
would otherwise arise. Included in this classification are certain, equities securities that have been acquired principally
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.

Investment securities at FVOC|

Upon initial recognition, the Group may elect to classify irrevocably some of its equity investments as equity
instruments at FVOCI when they meet the definition of Equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and
are not held for trading. Such classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis. Equity instruments
at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains and losses on these equity instruments are never recycled
to consolidated statement of income. Dividends are recognised in consolidated statement of income, when the right
of the payment has been established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of
the cost of the instrument, in which case, such gains are recorded in consolidated statement of income and other
comprehensive income. Equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to an impairment assessment. Upon disposal,
cumulative gains or losses are reclassified from fair value reserve to retained earnings in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes expected credit losses (ECL) on financial assets that are measured at amortized cost.

The expected credit loss of a financial instrument is measured in a way that reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount determined by evaluating range of possible outcomes; the time value of money; and past events,
current conditions and forecast of future economic conditions. The ECL model applies to all financial instruments
except investments in equity instruments. The methodologies and assumptions including any forecasts of future
economic conditions are reviewed regularly.

General approach

To measuring ECL under the general approach the assets migrate through a three-stages based on the change in credit
quality since initial recognition.

The Group recognizes ECL for cash and bank balances, accounts receivable and murabaha receivable using the
general approach.

The Group applies three-stage approach to measuring ECL. Assets migrate through the three stages based on the
change in credit quality since initial recognition. Financial assets with significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, but not credit impaired, are transitioned to stage 2 from stage | and ECL is recognized based on the
probability of default (PD) of the counter party occurring over the life of the asset. All other financial assets are
considered to be in stage | unless it is credit impaired and an ECL is recognized based on the PD of the customer
within next |2 months. Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when there is a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset.

Simplified approach

The Group determines the expected credit losses on these items based on historical credit loss experience based
on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of future
economic conditions.
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ECL

ECL is the discounted product of the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), and Loss Given Default
(LGD). The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation, either over the next
[2 months (12M PD), or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation. EAD represents the expected
exposure in the event of a default. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure to the financial instruments
and potential changes to the current amounts allowed under the contract including amortisation. The EAD of a
financial asset is its gross carrying amount. The LGD represents expected loss conditional on default, its expected
value when realised and the time value of money.

Event of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management purposes
as historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet either of the following criteria are generally not
recoverable:

* when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

* Information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

The Group incorporates forward-looking information based on expected changes in macro- economic factors in
assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and its
measurement of ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost. Financial liabilities at amortized are initially measured
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

* In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

* In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

* The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 | GATEHOUSE CAPITAL 47



Gatehouse Capital - Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries Kuwait

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2020

2.7

2.8

48

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level | - inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

Level 2 - inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level |, that are observable for the asset or
liability either directly or indirectly; and.

Level 3 - inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

For financial instruments quoted in an active market, fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices.
Bid prices are used for assets and offer prices are used for liabilities. The fair value of investments in mutual funds, unit
trusts or similar investment vehicles are based on the last published net assets value.

For unquoted financial instruments, fair value is determined by reference to the market value of a similar investment,
discounted cash flows, other appropriate valuation models or brokers’ quotes.

For financial instruments carried at amortised cost, the fair value is estimated by discounting future cash flows at the
current market rate of return for similar financial instruments.

For investments in equity instruments, where a reasonable estimate of fair value cannot be determined, the investment
is carried at cost less impairment.

The fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would
use the asset in its highest and best use.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the

nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

Furniture and equipment

Furniture and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the asset as follows.

Furniture and fixtures 3 years
Office equipment 3 years
Decorations 5 years

Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of furniture and equipment that is accounted for separately
is capitalized and the carrying amount of the component that is replaced is written off. Other subsequent expenditure
is capitalized only when it increases future economic benefits of the related item of furniture and fixtures. All other
expenditure is recognized in the consolidated statement of income as the expense is incurred. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows. The residual value, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
financial year end.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both,
but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes.

Investment properties are measured at cost on initial recognition and subsequently at fair value with any change
therein recognised in consolidated statement of income. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the investment property.
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Fair values of investment properties are determined by appraisers having an appropriate recognised professional
qualification and recent experience in the location and category of the property being valued.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from
disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in consolidated statement of income.

When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property and equipment, its fair value at the date of
reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset
does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment at least annually and whenever there is an
indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in consolidated statement of income, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in consolidated
statement of income, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest
in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted
for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities of an associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of income.
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The requirements of |AS 36 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Groups investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.

Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an associate.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition
in accordance with IFRS 9. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate at the date the equity method
was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in
the associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same
basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain
or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to consolidated
statement of income on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from
equity to consolidated statement of income (as a reclassification adjustment) when the associate is disposed of.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to consolidated statement of income the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to consolidated statement of income on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Cash and cash equivalents

For purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes bank balances and cash
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities up to three months from the date of
acquisition and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Post-employment benefits

The Group is liable under Kuwait Labour Law to make payments under defined benefit plans to employees at cessation
of employment. The defined benefit plan is unfunded and is based on the liability that would arise on involuntary
termination of all employees on the reporting date. This basis is considered to be a reliable approximation of the
present value of this liability.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
can be reliably measured regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes
or duty. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

*  Gain or losses on sale of financial assets are recognised when the risks and rewards are transferred to the buyer.

» Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

* Asset management and Placement fees are recognised over the period of time as the Group satisfies the
performance obligation by transferring the promised services to the customer.

* Consultancy and advisory fees is recognised point in time as the Group satisfies the performance obligation by
transferring the promised services to the customer.

* Murabaha income is recognised on a time proportion basis so as to yield a constant periodic rate of return based
on the balance outstanding.
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2.15

2.16

2.17

Foreign currencies

Foreign currencies transactions are recorded at rates of exchange ruling at the date of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities in foreign currencies outstanding at the year-end are translated into Kuwaiti Dinars at rates of
exchange ruling at the reporting date. Any resultant gains or losses are taken to the consolidated statement of income.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities classified as FVOCI are included in the investment fair
valuation reserve in equity.

The income and cash flow statements of foreign operations are translated into the Group’s reporting currency at
average exchange rates for the year and their consolidated statement of financial position are translated at exchange
rates ruling at the year-end. Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign
operations (including goodwill) are taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold, any resultant exchange differences are recognized in the consolidated statement of income as part
of the gain or loss on sale.

Taxation

Contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)

The Group calculates the contribution to KFAS at 1% of the profit in accordance with the KFAS Foundation’s Board
of Directors resolution, which states that the transfer to statutory reserve should be excluded from profit for the year
when determining the contribution.

Zakat

Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit of the Group in accordance with the Ministry of Finance
resolution No. 58/2007 effective from 10 December 2007.

Taxation on overseas subsidiaries

Taxation on overseas subsidiaries is calculated on the basis of the tax rates applicable and prescribed according to the
prevailing laws, regulations and instructions of the countries where these subsidiaries operate. Income tax payable on
taxable profit (“current tax”) is recognized as an expense in the year in which the profits arise in accordance with the
fiscal regulations of the respective countries in which the Group operates.

Contingencies

Contingent assets are not recognized as an asset until realisation becomes virtually certain. Contingent liabilities, other
than those arising on acquisition of subsidiaries, are not recognized as a liability unless as a result of past events it is
probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle a present, legal or constructive obligation;
and the amount can be reliably estimated. Contingent liabilities arising in a business combination are recognized if their
fair value can be measured reliably.

Leases

The Group as a lessee

The Group assesses whether contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognizes a right
of use asset and a corresponding lease liability on the date on which the lessor makes the asset available for use by
the Group (the commencement date).

On that date, the Group measures the right of use at cost, which comprises of:

* the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability.

* any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received

e any initial direct costs, and

* an estimate of costs to be incurred to restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease as a consequence of having used the underlying asset during a particular period; this is
recognised as part of the cost of the right of use asset when the Group incurs the obligation for those costs, which
may be at the commencement date or as a consequence of having used the asset during a particular period.
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At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments that
are not paid at that date. On that date, the lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease,
if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in measurement of the lease liability comprise the following payments for the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement date:

* fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable

* variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate

* amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees

* the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

* payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Payments associated with leases of short term leases and low-value assets are recognized on a straight-line basis as an
expense in the consolidated statement of income.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which
it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a
provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the
costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Subsequent Measurement

After the commencement date, the Group measures the right-of-use asset at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and
the lease term. The Group determines whether a right of use asset is impaired and recognizes any impairment loss
identified in the consolidated statement of income. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

After the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability and reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payment made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
asset) whenever:

* The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

* Thelease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using an
unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which
case a revised discount rate is used).

* A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and the finance cost. The finance cost is charged to consolidated
statement of income over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. The constant periodic rate of interest is the discount rate used at the initial
measurement of lease liability.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect in the amounts recognized in the consolidated
financial statements.

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 2.5, ECL is measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage | assets, or life time
ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased, the Group takes into account
qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking information.

Structured entities

The Parent Company uses judgement in determining which entities are structured entities. If the voting or similar rights
are not the dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity and such voting rights relate to the administrative tasks
only and the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual arrangements, the Group identifies such entities
as structured entities. After determining whether an entity is a structured entity, the Parent Company determines
whether it needs to consolidate this entity based on the consolidation principles of IFRS 10. The management of
the Parent Company has determined that it does not have any interest in consolidated structured entities as at the
reporting date.

The Parent Company considers itself the sponsor of certain limited liability companies that are Special Purpose
Vehicles (SPVs) for the Parent Company’s asset management activities. These SPVs are used to raise funds from the
Group’s clients on the basis of product offering memorandum with eventual objectives of investments in specified
asset classes as defined in the offering documents of the SPVs. These SPVs are managed on a fiduciary basis by the
Parent Company’s asset management teams and as the Parent Company does not control these SPVs as at the
reporting date in accordance with the definition of control in IFRS 10, these SPVs are not consolidated into the
Group’s consolidated financial statements. The Parent Company has not transferred any assets to these SPVs during
the year.

The Parent Company’s investment in these SPV’s are included in investment securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income amounting to KD 5,813,291 (2019: KD 5,670,673).

Classification of investments

The Group determines the classification of financial instrument based on the assessment of the business model within
which the assets are held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial instrument are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Refer note 2.5 classification of financial assets
for more information.

Impairment of investment in associates

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment
loss on the Group’s investment in its associates at each reporting date based on existence of any objective evidence
that the investment in the associate is impaired.

Classification of real estate property

Management decides on acquisition of a real estate whether it should be classified as trading, property held for
development or investment property.

The Group classifies property as trading property if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary course of business.
The Group classifies property as investment property under development if it is acquired with the intention of
development. The Group classifies property as investment property if it is acquired to generate rental income or for
capital appreciation, or for undetermined future use.
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Estimation of uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below:

Valuation of unquoted equity investments

Valuation of unquoted equity investments is normally based on one of the following:
e Recent arm’s length market transactions;

* Current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; or

* The expected cash flows discounted at current rates applicable for items with similar terms and risk characteristics;

The determination of the cash flows and discount factors for unquoted equity investments requires significant
estimation.

Discounting of lease payments

The lease payments are discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”). Management has applied
judgments and estimates to determine the IBR at the commencement of lease.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group estimates expected credit loss for all financial assets carried at amortised cost or fair value through
consolidated statement of income except for equity instruments. The determination of expected credit loss involves
significant use of external and internal data and assumptions. Refer note 2.5 impairment of financial assets for
more information.

Subsidiaries

N fe Country of Percentage of  Principal activities
ame ot Lompany incorporation ownership
2020 2019
Subsidiaries
Blue Pillar Advisory Ltd. Caymanlslands  100%  100% Investment

management services

Investment and real

Dhow Holdings Corporation (“DHC”) Cayman Islands 100% 100% o
estate activities
CSM Funding Company Ltd. Cayman Islands - 100% Investment and real
estate activities
Held through DHC o o Investment and real
Global Securities House USA, Inc (“GSH USA”) USA 100% 100% estate activities

Right of use assets

Kuwaiti Dinars

2020 2019
As at | January 187,428 320,046
Less: Depreciation (132,612) (132,618)
As at 3| December 54,816 187,428

The Group leases office space for its operations. Lease contracts are typically made for fixed periods ranging from |
to 3 years.
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Investment income

Kuwaiti Dinars

2020 2019

Dividend income 436,654 578,023
Unrealized gain on investment securities at fair value through profit or loss (note 9) 47,357 40,391
Unrealized loss on investment properties (note 6) (100,064) -
Realized loss on sale of investment property - (43,295)
383,947 575,119

Investment properties

Kuwaiti Dinars

2020 2019

As at | January 450,241 817,411
Disposals during the year - (367,170)
Change in fair value (note 5) (100,064) -
350,177 450,241

Investment properties are located at the Sultanate of Oman and are stated at fair value. The fair value of the property
is based on external valuation carried out by accredited independent valuator using market comparable approach.

The Parent Company’s objects do not include investing in investment properties.

Under market comparison approach, fair value is estimated based on comparable transactions. The market comparison
approach is based upon the principal of substitution under which a potential buyer will not pay more for the property
than it will cost to buy a comparable substitute property. The unit of comparison applied by the Group is the price
per square meter (“sqm”).

Description of key inputs to valuation of investment properties:
Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs Range (weighted average)

Market comparison approach Price per sqm KD 4-20

The fair value of the investment is determined using the market comparable approach, adjusted for size of plots and
location; hence categorized under level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (note 14).

Investment in an associate

Details of the associate are shown below.

Country of Percentage of Principal activities
Name of Company . . .
incorporation ownership
Held through GSH USA
Weaver Point Capital Advisors, LLC
(“Weaver Point”) USA 65% 65% Real estate advisory

The Group has accounted for the associate using equity method in accordance with IAS 28: Investment in Associates
and Joint Ventures, as the Group does not have power over Weaver Point and the ability to use its power over
Weaver Point to affect its returns and hence does not have control over the associate under IFRS 0.
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The movement in the carrying value of the associate are as follows:

Kuwaiti Dinars

2020 2019

As at | January 3,766,585 4,495,413
Share of results 453,813 342,539
Dividend received (379,036) (1,067,450)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 1,870 (3,917)
3,843,232 3,766,585

The share of results is net of priority distribution of KD 130,312 (2019: KD 86,725).

The following table illustrates summarized financial information of Weaver Point:

Kuwaiti Dinars

2020 2019
Assets and liabilities:
Total assets 1,132,486 929,693
Total liabilities (185,998) (141,351)
Priority distribution (130,312) (86,725)
Net assets 816,176 701,617
Revenues 1,958,067 1,910,821
Profit for the year (net of priority distribution) 698,173 526,983
Share of associate’s net assets 507,482 433,035
Goodwill 3,335,750 3,333,550
Carrying amount of interest in an associate 3,843,232 3,766,585

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill relating to Weaver Point was tested for impairment by management as at 3|1 December 2020 which and
found that there is no objective evidence on circumstances that indicates impairment in the value of its investment in
associate. KD Nil (2019: KD Nil).

The recoverable amount of the investment in Weaver Point has been determined based on value-in-use calculations,
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the Management Committee of Weaver Point
covering a 5-year period (2021 to 2025). The following rates were used:

2020 2019
Discount rate 10.0% 15.0%
Projected compounded annual growth for income 3.70% 3.50%
Terminal growth rate 1.00% 3.00%

Discount rate

Discount rate reflects the current market assessment of the risk specific to Weaver Point, which is a real estate
advisory company located in the United States specialized in real estate advisory services in accordance with the
Sharia principles. The discount rate was estimated based on the average percentage of a weighted cost of capital for
the investment advisory industry determined on a pre-tax basis. This rate was further adjusted to reflect the market
assessment of any risks specific to Weaver Point for which future estimates of cash flows have been adjusted after
appropriate discount rate as Weaver Point is not listed on any secondary capital market.
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Sensitivity to changes in assumptions:

Weaver Point strategic business plan is to provide real estate structuring advisory and real estate asset management.
The calculation of value-in-use for Weaver Point is most sensitive to projected compounded annual growth rate of
Weaver Point’s revenues and discount rate.

Investment securities at fair value through other comprehensive income

Kuwaiti Dinars
2020 2019

Unquoted foreign equity securities 5,813,291 5,670,673

During the year, the Group had an unrealised loss on unquoted equity securities amounting to KD 398,500
(2019: 284,893).

Investment securities at fair value through profit or loss

Kuwaiti Dinars
2020 2019

Unquoted foreign equity securities 1,289,629 1,242,272

This represents an investment in a related party (note 12). During the year, the Group had an unrealised gain on
unquoted equity securities amounting to KD 47,357 (2019: unrealised gain 40,391) (note 5).

Share capital, reserves, directors’ remuneration and proposed dividend

a.  Share capital

The authorized, issued and fully paid up share capital comprises of 100,000,000 (2019: 100,000,000) shares of 100
fils (2019: 100 fils) each, which is fully paid in cash.

b.  Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Companies Law and the Parent Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of the profit for
the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company before contribution to KFAS, Zakat, and Directors’
remuneration has been transferred to statutory reserve. The Group may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers
when the reserve equals 50% of the paid-up capital. The statutory reserve is not available for distribution except in
certain circumstances stipulated by law.

Distribution of the reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend of 5% of paid up share
capital to be made in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the payment of a dividend of that amount.

c. Directors’ remuneration

The Directors’ remuneration of KD 35,000 (2019: KD 54,666) is in accordance with the local regulations and is
subject to approval of the shareholders’ in the annual general meeting.

Lease Liabilities

Kuwaiti Dinars

2020 2019
As at | January 187,300 320,046
Finance Costs 6,188 14,504
Lease payments (141,360) (147,250)
As at 3| December 52,128 187,300
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The above is segregated as:

Kuwaiti Dinars

2020 2019

Current 52,128 135,172
Non-Current - 52,128
52,128 187,300

The Group does not have any lease contracts that contains variable lease payments not included in the measurement
of lease liabilities.

12. Related party transaction
Related parties represent the Ultimate Parent Company, key management personnel of the Group and entities
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions
are approved by the Parent Company’s management.
Balances and transactions with related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:
Kuwaiti Dinars
2020 2019
Consolidated statement of financial position:
Investment securities at fair value through profit or loss (note 9) 1,289,629 1,242,272
Consolidated statement of income:
Other income 5,175 3,855
General and administrative expenses (12,000) (12,000)
Murabaha payable costs - (259,350)
Key management compensation
Salaries and other short term benefits 213,070 225,608
Employees> end of services benefits 14,881 19,060
227,951 244,668
13. Risk management
Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement
and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This process of risk management is critical to the Group’s
continuing profitability and each within the Group is accountable for the risk exposures relating to his or her
responsibilities.
The Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, the latter being subdivided into profit rate risk,
foreign currency risk and equity price risk. The Group’s policy is to monitor those business risks through the Group’s
strategic planning process. No changes were made in the risk management objectives, policies or processes during the
years ended 3| December 2020 and 31 December 2019.
Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing
to discharge an obligation. Financial assets, which potentially subject the Group to credit risk, consist principally of
bank balances and other receivables. The Group’s bank balances is held with high credit quality banks and financial
institutions. The Group seeks to limit its credit risk also by dealing with credit worthy counter parties and regularly
monitoring its outstanding receivables.
58  ANNUAL REPORT 2020 | GATEHOUSE CAPITAL



Gatehouse Capital - Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries Kuwait

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2020

Gross Maximum Exposure to credit risk

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of
financial position. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master
netting and collateral agreements, if any:

Kuwaiti Dinars

31 December 2020 31 December 2019
Approach Gross ECL Net Gross ECL Net
carrying carrying carrying carrying
amount amount amount at amount
at default default
Murabaha receivable General - - - 151,525 (6,819) 144,706
Accounts receivable General 379,073  (6,132) 372,941 617,758  (11,062) 606,696
Bank balances General 1,227,666 - 1,227,666 1,347,672 - 1,347,672

1,606,739  (6,132) 1,600,607 2,116,955 (17,881) 2,099,074

The net decrease in the loss allowance during the year is mainly attributed to the decrease in gross exposures at
default. The Group writes off a receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the current credit risk
exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values.

The Group does not have any other significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of
counterparties having similar characteristics. It is not the practice of the Group to obtain collateral against receivables.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities
that are settled by delivering cash or another financials assets. To manage this risk, the Group periodically assesses

the financial viability of customers and invests in short-term murabaha or other investments that are readily realisable.
The maturity profile is monitored by management to ensure adequate liquidity is maintained.

All the financial liabilities of the Group are payable within one year from the consolidated statement of financial
position date.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market prices. Market risk comprises of three types of risks: currency risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk.

Profit rate risk

Profit rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in profit rates will affect future profitability or the fair values
of financial instruments. The Group is not significantly exposed to profit rate risk as a result of mismatches of profit
rate re-pricing of assets and liabilities since it does not hold significant floating rate Islamic financial assets and Islamic
financial liabilities that could have a material impact on the Group’s profit.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in foreign exchange rates.

The Group monitors the positions on an ongoing basis to ensure positions are maintained within established limits and
performs a continuous assessment of the Group’s open positions and current and expected exchange rate movements.

The effect on profit (due to change in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities), with all other variables held
constant is shown below as at 31 December:
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Kuwaiti Dinars

Change percentage Effect on profit
Currency (+7-) 2020 2019
usD 3% 69,253 50,577
GBP 3% 9,856 1,552

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices,
whether these changes are caused by factors specific to individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all
instruments, traded in the market. Equity price risk is managed by the Group through diversification of investments in
terms of geographical distribution and industry concentration.

The Group has unquoted equity securities in fair value through other comprehensive income category where the
impact of changes in equity prices will only be reflected in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income
when the financial asset is sold or deemed to be impaired. The Group is not exposed to any other equity price risk.
Prepayment risk

Prepayment risk is the risk that the Group will incur a financial loss because its customers and counterparties repay or
request repayment earlier or later than expected. The Group is not significantly exposed to prepayment risk.

Fair value measurement
The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets.

Relationship of

Fair Valuation Significant
' . . . unobservable
Financial assets Fair value as at value techniques and unobservable .
hierarchy Key inputs inputs inputs to fair
value
31 December 31| December
2020 2019
Investment securities at Valuation based ~ Adjusted book The higher the
fair value through profit 1,289,629 1,242,272 Level 3 on adjusted price/ value of market = market risk, the
or loss book multiples price lower the fair value
Investment securities at Net Assets
fair value through other NAV Basis Value Net Assets Value
comprehensive income 5,813,291 5,670,673  Level 3
Investment properties 350,177 450,241  Level 3 Market comparison Price per sgm N/A

approach

7,453,097 7,363,186

The following table shows a reconciliation of the opening and closing amount of Level 3 assets which are recorded
at fair value.

Kuwaiti Dinars

| January Gain/(loss) recorded Gain/(loss) Net purchase, 31 December
in the consolidated recorded in sales and
statement of comprehensive settlements
income income
Level 3
2020 7,363,186 (52,707) (120,005) 262,623 7,453,097
2019 12,437,668 (2,904) (461,220) (4,610,358) 7,363,186
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16.

Capital risk management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in
order to support its business and maximize shareholder value. The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or borrow from
Islamic financial institutions.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019. Total capital is calculated as equity, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position, plus
net debt. The Group has no external borrowings.

Effect of COVID-19

The outbreak of the novel Coronavirus (Covid-19) in early 2020 in most countries caused widespread disruptions
to business, with a consequential negative impact on economic activities. The Group is continually monitoring its
impact, while working closely with the local regulatory authorities, to manage the potential business disruption of the
COVID-19 outbreak.

In light of COVID-19, the Group considered whether any adjustments and changes in judgments, estimates and risk
management are required to be considered and reported in the consolidated financial statements. Below are the key
assumptions about the future and other key sources of estimation that may have a significant risk of causing material
adjustments to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of non-monetary assets

The Group considered any impairment indicators arising and any significant uncertainties around its furniture and
equipment and right-of-use assets concluded there is no material impact due to COVID-I9.

Fair valuation of financial assets

The uncertainties caused by COVID-19 have required the Group to reassess the inputs and assumptions used for the
determination of fair value of financial assets at FVTPL and FVOCI.

The Group has determined the fair value of its equity securities and equity participations in real estate properties
based on most recent market information relating to the respective investments and recognized resulting unrealized
gain and loss in these consolidated financial statements.

Commitments and contingent liabilities

The Group has assessed the impact of any operational disruptions, including any contractual challenges and changes
in business or commercial relationships among the Group, customers and suppliers, with a view of potential increase
in contingent liabilities and commitments and no issues were noted.

Going concern

The Group has performed an assessment of whether it is a going concern in the light of current economic conditions
and all available information about future risks and uncertainties. The projections have been prepared covering the
Group’s future performance, capital and liquidity. The impact of COVID-19 may continue to evolve, but at the present
time the projections show that the Group has ample resources to continue in operational existence and its going
concern position remains largely unaffected and unchanged. As a result, this consolidated financial statements has
been appropriately prepared on a going concern basis.
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Introduction

The Company carries out its business in accordance with the Law of Companies No. | of 2016 and its amendments
and executive regulations, and is regulated by the Capital Markets Authority (CMA) by virtue of the Resolution No.
72 of 2015 issuing the Executive Regulations of the Law No. 7 of 2010 regarding Establishment of the Capital Markets
Authority and Organization of the Securities Activity, and amendments thereto.

I.1 Activities

The Company is engaged in the following activities:

|. Financial, administrative and economic advisory.

2. Financial, administrative and economic studies and researches.
3. Organizing specialized conferences, seminars and workshops.
4

. Offering/selling securities for the issuer or its associate, or holding securities from the issuer or its associate for
marketing thereof subject to approval of the concerned authorities.

b

Owning movables and properties necessary for the Company’s business and within the limits stipulated under the law.

6. Utilizing the cash surplus available with the Company and investing the same in financial portfolios managed by
specialized entities.

Investment adviser.

8. Placement agent.

1.2 Organization

The Company’s Board of Directors have all the authorities and powers that enable it to manage the Company.
The Board of Directors delegated some authorities to the Company’s Executive Management headed by the Chief
Executive Officer (CEQ) in line with the assigned responsibilities. The Company is organized in two key sectors
namely Investment and Operations. The number of the staff was 36 as at 31 December 2020.

1.3 Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is involved in developing the Company’s long-term strategy and business plans and ratifying
the same, approves and ensures efficiency of the internal control systems. The Board Of directors ensures that the
Company complies with the approved strategy and policies and procedures as per the applicable laws and regulations,
oversee the higher management, which is responsible of the day-to-day operations, and ensures that all risks are
duly managed.

The Board of Directors assumes the ultimate responsibility for the Company’s operations and soundness of its financial
position, fulfillment of CMA requirements, protection of the rights of shareholders, creditors, investors, customers,
employees and stakeholders, and ensures that the Company is managed in accordance in a prudent manner in line
with the applicable laws, regulations, policies and procedures.

In 2020, the Board of Directors held 7 meetings. The Board of Directors comprised of 5 members including the
Chairman as at 31 December 2020, namely.

Position Membership
Fahed Faisal Boodai Chairman Non-executive
Abdulaziz Saud Al-Bader Vice Chairman Non-executive
Mohamad Tawfik Al-Tahawy Board Member Non-executive
Charles Haresnape Board Member Non-executive
Abdullah Ibrahim Alghanim Board Member Independent
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1.4 Executive Management
The Board of Directors entrusted the Company’s CEO, Mr. Khaled Abdullateef Al-Baijan, with all day-to-day
operations and administration of the Company. The key responsibilities of the CEQO include:
* Co-developing the strategic and financial plans with the Board of Directors, and implementation and monitoring
of the same.
* Promoting the culture of transparency, honesty, teamwork and social responsibility.

* Ensuring the development, implementation and continuous oversight of the Company’s risks and internal control
frameworks/systems.

*  Providing the Board of Directors with the timely and accurate information for effective decision-making.
» Updating the Board of Directors with all matters and issues that affect the Company.

* Managing the Company in line with the corporate policies, budget and business plan and the strategy approved
by the Board of Directors, and making the appropriate decisions as per the Delegation of Authority Matrix.

* Appointing external competent Authority to do an external audit function to ensure that the best auditing
methods adopted by the competent authorities are followed.

2. Standards of Inspection

We conducted our inspection as per the standards in the “Internal Audit — Integrated Framework” Book issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). As per the Framework, the internal
control is “a process, effected by an entity’s Board of Directors, management and other personnel, designed to
provide reasonable assurance of the achievement of objectives in the following categories: Effectiveness and Efficiency
of Operations, Reliability of Financial Reporting and Compliance with the applicable Laws and Regulations”.

2.1 Categories of Objectives
The Framework provides three categories of objectives, which allow organizations to focus on differing aspects of
internal control:

Operations Objectives-These pertain to effectiveness and efficiency of the entity’s operations, including operational
and financial performance goals, and safeguarding assets against loss.

Reporting Objectives-These pertain to internal and external financial and non-financial reporting and may
encompass reliability, timeliness, transparency, or other terms as set forth by regulators, recognized standard setters,
or the entity’s policies.

Compliance Objectives-These pertain to adherence to laws and regulations to which the entity is subject.

2.2 Internal Control Components and Principles

The COSO Internal Control Framework includes five integrated components and seventeen principles, as follows:

I. Control Environment:

The control environment is the set of standards, processes, and structures that provide the basis for carrying out
internal control across the organization. The Board of Directors and senior management establish the tone at the top
regarding the importance of internal control including expected standards of conduct.

The following are the five principles that relate to the internal control:

|. The organization demonstrates a commitment to integrity and ethical values.

2. TheBoard of Directors demonstrates independence from management and exercises oversight of the development
and performance of internal control.

3. Management establishes, with board oversight, structures, reporting lines, and appropriate authorities and
responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives.

4. The organization demonstrates a commitment to attract, develop, and retain competent individuals in alignment
with objectives.

5. The organization holds individuals accountable for their internal control responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 | GATEHOUSE CAPITAL 65



Gatehouse Capital - Economic and Financial Consultancy K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries Kuwait

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT (EVALUATION OF INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS)
31 December 2020

66

2. Risk Assessment:

Risk assessment involves a dynamic and iterative process for identifying and assessing risks to the achievement of
objectives. Risk assessment forms the basis for determining how risks will be managed. Risk assessment requires
management to consider the impact of possible changes in the external environment and within its own business
model that may render internal control ineffective.

There are four principles that relate to Risk Assessment. These are:
I. The organization specifies objectives with sufficient clarity to enable the identification and assessment of risks
relating to objectives.

2. The organization identifies risks to the achievement of its objectives across the entity and analyzes risks as a basis
for determining how the risks should be managed.

3. The organization considers the potential for fraud in assessing risks to the achievement of objectives.

4. The organization identifies and assesses changes that could significantly impact the system of internal control.

3. Control Activities:

Control activities are the actions established through policies and procedures that help ensure that management’s
directives to mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out. Control activities are performed at all
levels of the entity, at various stages within business processes, and over the technology environment.

There are three principles that relate to Control Activities. These are:
|. The organization selects and develops control activities that contribute to the mitigation of risks to the achievement
of objectives to acceptable levels.

2. The organization selects and develops general control activities over technology to support the achievement
of objectives.

3. The organization deploys control activities through policies that establish what is expected and procedures that
put policies into action.

4. Information and Communication:

Information is necessary for the entity to carry out internal control responsibilities to support the achievement of
its objectives. Management obtains or generates and uses relevant and quality information from both internal and
external sources to support the functioning of other components of internal control. Communications enables
personnel to receive a clear message from senior management that control responsibilities must be taken seriously.

There are three principles that relate to Information and Communication. These are:
I. The organization obtains or generates and uses relevant, quality information to support the functioning of
internal control.

2. The organization internally communicates information, including objectives and responsibilities for internal control,
necessary to support the functioning of internal control.

3. The organization communicates with external parties regarding matters affecting the functioning of internal control.

5. Monitoring Activities:

Ongoing evaluations, separate evaluations, or some combination of the two are used to ascertain whether each of
the five components of internal control, including controls to effect the principles within each component, is present
and functioning. Findings are evaluated and deficiencies are communicated to management and the Board of Directors
as appropriate.

There are two principles that relate to Monitoring Activities. These are:

|. The organization selects, develops, and performs ongoing and/or separate evaluations to ascertain whether the
components of internal control are present and functioning.

2. The organization evaluates and communicates internal control deficiencies in a timely manner to those parties
responsible for taking corrective action, including senior management and the Board of Directors, as appropriate.
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2.3 Limitations in Internal Control
The Framework recognizes that while internal control provides reasonable assurance of achieving the entity’s
objectives, limitations do exist. Even an effective system of internal control can experience a failure. Limitations may
result from the:

» Suitability of objectives established as a precondition to internal control

* Reality that human judgment in decision making can be faulty and subject to bias

* Breakdowns that can occur because of human failures such as simple errors

* Ability of management to override internal control

* Ability of management, other personnel, and/or third parties to circumvent controls through collusion

» External events beyond the organization’s control

These limitations preclude the board and management from having absolute assurance of the achievement of the
entity’s objectives - that is, internal control provides reasonable but not absolute assurance.

3. Findings:

Based on the evaluation carried out by the Audit Committee for the internal control systems, the Committee did not
observe any exception that may significantly affect achievement of the Company’s objectives. The in-house internal
control systems is functioning in efficient and effective manner. We would like to underline that the internal control
systems does not ensure identification of all violations and incompliance, and should be considered as an aid for better
management and not alternatives of the responsibilities entrusted to the management for oversight and evaluation.

Due to limitations in any internal control system, errors and violations may occur and may go undetected. All
precautions must be taken when implementing the findings of the current evaluation in the future, as there is a risk
that the procedure would be inadequate due to the changing conditions or because compliance with the applied
procedures would deteriorate.

Mohamad Tawfik Al Tahawy Charles Haresnape Abdullah Ibrahim Alghanim

Chairman of the Committee Committee Member Committee Member
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